



Data Protection Policy (Employees)

Table of Contents

Statement of Intent	2
Scope	2
Purpose	2
Definitions	3
Data Protection Principles	4
Accessing Personal Data / Subject Access Requests (SARs)	7
Data Protection Breaches	9
Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA)	9
International Data Transfers	10
Monitoring	10
Training & Compliance	10
List of Appendices	10
Links / Other Resources	10
Appendix 1: Employee Privacy Notice	12

Statement of Intent

- The City of London Corporation (City Corporation) is committed to all aspects of data
 protection and takes seriously its duties, and the duties of its employees, under the General
 Data Protection Regulation 2016 (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA 2018).
 This policy sets out how the City Corporation deals with employees' personal data,
 including personnel files and data subject access requests; and employees' obligations in
 relation to personal data.
- 2. The City Corporation recognises that employees have rights in relation to their own personal data processed by the City Corporation, and as employees of the City Corporation they have responsibilities for the personal data of others (i.e. clients, customers and colleagues) which they process in the course of their work.
- 3. The City Corporation has appointed the Comptroller & City Solicitor as Data Protection Officer, the person with responsibility for advising the organisation in relation to data protection compliance, who can be contacted at information.officer@cityoflondon.gov.uk.
- 4. The Director of Human Resources will be responsible for the interpretation, advice and management of this procedure on behalf of the City of London Corporation.

Scope

- 5. This policy applies to all prospective, current and former employees and workers at the City Corporation, including teaching and support staff in the three City Schools and support staff in the City of London Police. The term 'employee' used in this policy refers to all those in scope as described above. In addition other workers such as, contractors, agency workers, volunteers, interns, apprentices and those undertaking work experience at the City Corporation are expected to observe the data protection principles and to comply with the responsibilities set out in the paragraphs below.
- 6. This policy should be read in conjunction with the corporate Data Protection Policy and may be supplemented by local data protection policies for example within Schools and the Barbican Centre where local policies may act as an extension to this policy.

Purpose

- 7. The purpose of the policy is to:
 - provide employees with a framework that outlines appropriate use of personal data in accordance with the GDPR and DPA 2018; and
 - protect the City Corporation against liability for the actions of its employees, other workers, former employees and former other workers.

Definitions

- 8. Data protection is about the privacy of individuals, and is governed by the GDPR and DPA which defines, among others, terms as follows:
 - "Personal data" any information that relates to an identified or identifiable living individual. This includes where living individuals can be directly or indirectly identified using information such as a name as well as other identifiers such as unique personal identifiers (e.g. payroll and National Insurance numbers), location data or other online identifiers, as well as physical, physiological, genetic mental, economic, cultural or social identity
 - "Controller" the person or organisation responsible for determining the purposes and means of the processing of personal data The City Corporation is the data controller in respect of all personal information that relates to the Corporation's business.
 - "Data Protection Officer" (DPO) public authorities are required to have a DPO to inform and advise on data protection matters, monitor compliance with data protection legislation and act as liaison with the Information Commissioner's Office (ICO).
 - "Data subject" is the identified or identifiable person to whom the personal data relates.
 - "Processing" is defined very broadly and encompasses any action performed on or
 with personal data, including collection, recording, organisation, structuring, storage,
 adaptation or alteration, retrieval, consultation, use, disclosure by transmission,
 dissemination or otherwise making available, alignment or combination, restriction
 (that is, the marking of stored data with the aim of limiting its processing in the
 future, erasure and destruction. In effect, it is any activity involving personal data.
 - "Processor" is the person or organisation (a third party) who processes personal data on behalf of the data controller.
 - "Special categories of personal data" means personal data which reveals a data subject's racial or ethnic origin, political opinions, religious or philosophical beliefs, trade union membership, genetic, biometric and health data, and information relating to a data subject's sex life or sexual orientation.
 - "Criminal records data" means information about an individual's criminal
 convictions and offences, and information relating to criminal allegations and
 proceedings. To note it is lawful to consider spent convictions for certain types of
 employment listed as detailed in the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974
 (Exceptions) Order 1975.

Data Protection Principles

- 9. The City Corporation is legally required to comply with the six Data Protection principles when processing personal data. These principles require that personal data:
 - i. Shall be processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation to the data subject.
 - ii. Shall be collected only for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes; and it must not then be further processed in any manner incompatible with those purposes.
 - iii. Shall be adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to the purposes for which it is processed.
 - iv. Shall be accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date. Every reasonable step must be taken to ensure that data which is inaccurate, having regard to the purposes for which it is processed, is erased or rectified without delay.
 - v. Shall not be kept in a form which permits identification of data subjects for longer than is necessary for the purposes for which the data is processed. Personal data may be stored for longer periods provided it is processed solely for archiving purposes in the public interest, scientific or historical research purposes or statistical purposes. This is subject to the implementation of appropriate data security measures designed to safeguard the rights and freedoms of data subjects.
 - vi. Shall be processed in a manner that ensures its appropriate security. This includes protection against unauthorised or unlawful processing and against accidental loss, destruction or damage.
- 10. The City Corporation tells individuals the reasons for processing their personal data, how it uses such data and the legal basis for processing in its privacy notices. It will not process personal data of individuals for other incompatible reasons.
- 11. Stronger legal protection applies in relation to the special categories of personal data information:
 - · racial or ethnic origin
 - political opinions
 - religious or philosophical beliefs
 - the processing of genetic data
 - the processing of biometric data in order to uniquely identify a person
 - mental or physical health
 - sexual life and orientation
 - trade union membership
- 12. There are separate safeguards for personal data relating to criminal convictions and offences, or related security measures.

The City Corporation

- 13. As a data controller the City Corporation has publicly registered its general purposes for processing personal data on the Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) website.
- 14. As part of the purpose of "employee administration" the City Corporation may, where necessary for a lawful purpose, disclose personal data to professional advisers (e.g. legal or medical), pension scheme administrators including the LGPS Pensions Board, banks and insurers, and other companies to which the City Corporation has contracted work relating to any of the purposes stated on its register of processing activities.
- 15. Information about employees may also be disclosed where required by law, or in connection with legal proceedings, or for the prevention / detection of crime, or assessment / collection of tax. Information about employees may also be disclosed to others at the employee's request or with the employee's consent.
- 16. Special provisions apply to the processing of special categories of personal data (see definitions), and generally the processing of such information will be avoided where possible. Where the City Corporation needs to process special categories of personal data it will rely on the subject's explicit consent given in the contract of employment, or on one of the other justifications specified under the first principle i.e. processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation to individuals; or it will seek if appropriate, the data subject's specific consent. The exceptions to individual consent being when collating statistical data for reporting purposes for the City Corporation to fulfil its contractual, management and legal responsibilities.
- 17. Departments and institutions are responsible for the personal data they hold and process. Accordingly, the City Corporation operates an Access to Information Network (AIN), consisting of representatives from each department which supports this responsibility and the work of the Information Officer. For a list of all departmental AIN representatives at the City Corporation see Links / Other Resources.
- 18. The departmental AIN representative should be the first port of call, when a matter concerning data protection compliance has arisen. If you are unable to contact your departmental AIN representative, you should contact the Information Compliance Team in the Comptroller and City Solicitor's Department.

Managers

- 19. Managers should ensure that:
 - They and their employees have completed the mandatory data protection online training course and any further training as appropriate to their role; and

 They and their employees are familiar with local procedures and practices regarding the processing of all personal data to which they have access in the course of their duties.

CityPeople (HR and payroll system)

20. Where personal data held within the CityPeople system is to be disposed of, it is either deleted or redacted and put beyond business use i.e. no unique identification factors remain.

Employees

- 21. The City Corporation's Employees Privacy Notice (Appendix 1) sets out how personal data may be processed and the legal basis for doing so. In limited circumstances, the City Corporation may rely on employees' explicit consent for processing; where this is the case consent should be freely given, can be withdrawn and will generally be recorded by the employee's signed agreement.
- 22. As part of the on-going move to employee self-service, managers can view their immediate reports contact information including emergency contact details (where provided) and employment information integral to staff management. However, employees are responsible for maintaining their own personal information (i.e. bank details, home address etc.) whether through City People employee self-service or any other employee self-service system where applicable. Advice or support in doing so is available from the HR Business Unit at CorporateHRHelpdesk@cityoflondon.gov.uk.
- 23. Employees with access to and responsibility for personal data are expected to:
 - access only data that they have authority to access and only for authorised purposes;
 - comply at all times with the City Corporation's IT, Security and email use policies;
 and in particular not use a non-Corporation email system for the transmission of personal data;
 - use data responsibly and in accordance with the data protection principles and should be cautious about disclosing personal data both within and outside the City Corporation, and about using it in email and via the internet or intranet;
 - complete mandatory data protection and related training to comply fully with corporate and local guidance, procedures and practice regarding the processing of personal data and check their authority to take any action involving personal data with their manager;
 - report any loss or compromise of their own or others personal information to the departmental AIN representative or the Information Compliance Team as soon as possible;

- take all necessary action to keep personal data secure, no matter its form or format, including by the proper management of electronic devices, including mobile devices and computer access; implementing and complying with rules on access to premises and secure electronic and hard copy file storage and destruction, and in accordance with corporate policies and guidance.
- 24. Where personal information is to be disposed of, employees should ensure that it is destroyed permanently and securely. This may involve the permanent removal of the information from the server so that it does not remain in an employee's inbox, deleted items folder or recover deleted items folder. Hard copies of personal information must be confidentially shredded or placed in confidential waste bins provided. Employees should be careful to ensure that personal information is not disposed of in a wastepaper basket / recycle bin. It must be remembered that the destruction of personal data is of itself "processing" and must be carried out in accordance with the data protection principles.
- 25. If an employee acquires any personal data in error by whatever means, they shall inform their departmental AIN representative immediately and, if it is not necessary for them to retain it, destroy the personal data without any further processing of it.
- 26. An employee must not send other people's personal data from a City Corporation laptop, desktop, tablet or mobile phone to a personal email account i.e. an account not owned or controlled by the Corporation, except where it is legally permitted to do so.
- 27. Where employee personal data needs to be taken off site the responsible employee must ensure that appropriate steps are taken to protect it; be it in hard copy, stored on a laptop or other electronic device. For the removal of hard copy information, prior consent should be obtained from their line manager or senior officer. Care must also be taken when observing personal data in hard copy or on-screen so that such information is not viewed by anyone who is not legitimately privy to it.
- 28. If an employee is in any doubt about what they may or may not do with personal data, they should seek advice from their departmental AIN representative before taking any action.

Accessing Personal Data / Subject Access Requests (SARs)

29. Data subjects have a general right of access (subject to exemptions) to the personal data held about them. This right can be exercised by submitting a Subject Access Request (SAR). The type of personal data kept about employees includes personnel files, occupational health and sickness records, disciplinary or training records, appraisal or performance review notes, emails in which the employee is the focus of the email and documents that are about the employee.

- 30. Any employee receiving a SAR from a data subject directly should immediately pass it to their departmental AIN representative and the Information Compliance Team. All responses to SARs should be coordinated by the relevant departmental AIN representative or the Information Compliance Team.
- 31. Some personal data may be exempt from disclosure to the data subject, but these exemptions or restrictions, are to be assessed on a case by case basis. If a subject access request is manifestly unfounded or excessive, the City Corporation is not obliged to comply with it but can agree to respond where costs are agreed to be met.
- 32. All SARs must be acknowledged. The City Corporation must respond to a SAR, subject to any exemptions or constraints to disclosure, within one month from the date it is received. In some cases, such as where we process large amounts of the individual's data, we may respond within three months of the date the request is received. The departmental AIN representative will write to the individual within one month of receiving the original request to tell him/her if this is the case.
- 33. If an employee becomes aware that the City Corporation holds any inaccurate, irrelevant or out-of-date personal information about them, it may be possible for them to update these records themselves (through any corporate employee self-service system). Where this is not possible, they should notify the HR Business Unit at CorporateHRHelpdesk@cityoflondon.gov.uk and provide any necessary or suggested corrections and/or updates to the information. The departmental AIN representative will also be notified.
- 34. If an employee requests the City Corporation to stop processing data or erase data that is no longer necessary for the purposes of processing on either a temporary or an indefinite basis, they should notify the HR Business Unit at CorporateHRHelpdesk@cityoflondon.gov.uk stating the ground(s) for the request. The departmental AIN Representative will also be notified.
- 35. However where the deletion of personal data is approved and the data is processed by another organisation commissioned on the behalf of the City Corporation, the City Corporation will contact the organisation and inform them of the deletion; unless this proves impossible or involves disproportionate effort. Note: this does not apply in the case of taking up certain staff benefits, where an employee elects to enter into an agreement directly with an external benefits provider, then that provider's own privacy notice should be referred to.
- 36. In some circumstances it may not be possible to comply with a request for erasure of personal data or to stop processing data. Examples include where processing is required in order to comply with a legal obligation for the performance of a public interest task or exercise of official authority.
- 37. Complaints regarding the City Corporation's processing of personal data should be addressed to: Complaints Officer, Town Clerk's Department, City of London, PO Box 270, Guildhall, London, EC2P 2EJ, UK; or email: complaints@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Data Protection Breaches

- 38. Failure to observe the data protection principles within this policy may result in an employee incurring personal criminal liability. It may also result in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal where there are significant or deliberate breaches of this policy, such as accessing employee or customer personal data without authorisation or a legitimate reason to do so.
- 39. Employees must immediately report to their departmental AIN representative and the Information Compliance Team, any actual or suspected data protection breaches, which will be investigated in accordance with the City Corporation's Data Protection Breach guidelines.
- 40. If the City Corporation discovers that there has been a breach of employee related personal data that poses a risk to the rights and freedoms of individuals, it is required to report it to the Information Commissioner within 72 hours of discovery. The City Corporation will record all data breaches regardless of their effect.
- 41. If the breach is likely to result in a high risk to the rights and freedoms of individuals, it will tell affected individuals that there has been a breach and provide them with information about its likely consequences and the mitigation measures it has taken.
- 42. Where the City Corporation engages third parties to process personal data on its behalf, such parties do so based on written instructions, are under a duty of confidentiality and are obliged to implement appropriate technical and organisational measures to ensure the security of data.

Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA)

43. Some of the processing that the City Corporation carries out may result in risks to privacy. Where processing would result in a high risk to individual's rights and freedoms, the City Corporation will need to carry out a data protection Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA) to determine the necessity and proportionality of the processing. This will include considering the purposes for which the activity is carried out, the risks for individuals and the use of new technologies and the measures that can be put in place to mitigate the risks. Advice should be sought from the Data Protection Officer at an early stage where a proposal may require a PIA.

International Data Transfers

44. Employee related personal data held directly by the City Corporation is not routinely transferred to countries outside the EEA. However, certain data processed by third parties on behalf of the City Corporation may be transferred, for instance organisations based outside the EEA or operating on a global basis may need to transfer or store your personal data outside the EEA. Links to each organisation's privacy notice will be supplied where this occurs.

Monitoring

- 45. Since the City Corporation's communications facilities i.e. email, messaging, Skype etc. are provided for the purposes of the City Corporation's business, employees should not expect that their communications will be private; although the City Corporation will, subject to its overriding business requirements, do its best to respect an employee's privacy and autonomy at work.
- 46. The City Corporation may monitor an employee's internal and external communications (whether via telephone, email, and internet, or otherwise) for the purposes specified in the Code of Conduct in accordance with the Communications and Information Systems Use Policy.

Training & Compliance

- 47. The City Corporation provides training to all employees on data protection matters on induction and on a regular basis thereafter. This training is mandatory and completion of the training will be monitored by Corporate HR and Business Services Unit.
- 48. The City Corporation will review and ensure compliance with this policy at regular intervals.

List of Appendices

Appendix 1 – Employees Privacy Notice

Links / Other Resources

- Code of Conduct
- Communications and Information Systems Use Policy
- Data Protection Policy
- Data Subject Rights' Policy
- Disclosure and Barring Services & Recruiting of Ex-Offenders

- General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)
- Information Commissioner's Office (ICO)
- Departmental AIN representatives

Appendix 1: Employee Privacy Notice

This notice describes how the City of London Corporation ("the Corporation") as a data controller collects and uses personal information about you during and after your employment, in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA 2018). The Notice will be reviewed periodically and may be updated at any time.

This Notice applies to current and former employees, workers and contractors. The Corporation's Data Protection Officer is the Comptroller and City Solicitor and can be contacted at information.officer@cityoflondon.gov.uk.

The information we hold about you

Personal data, or personal information, means any information about an individual from which that person can be identified. It does not include data where the identity has been removed (anonymous data).

There are "special categories" of more sensitive personal data which require a higher level of protection.

Examples of the categories of personal information we will collect, store and use about you include:

- Personal contact details such as name, title, address, telephone numbers and personal email addresses
- Date of birth
- Gender
- Next of kin and emergency contact information
- National Insurance number
- Bank account details, payroll number and tax status information
- Information such as salary, start date, annual leave, working hours, work title, job roles, pensions and benefits information)
- Location of employment or workplace.
- Copy of driving licence (if required)
- Recruitment information (including copies of right to work documentation, references, documents verifying identity/qualifications and other information

included in an application form, CV or covering letter or as part of the application process)

- Performance information
- Disciplinary and grievance information
- Information obtained through electronic means such as ID card
- Information about your use of our information and communications systems
- Photographs

We may also collect, store and use the following "special categories" of more sensitive personal information:

- Information about your race or ethnicity, religious/philosophical beliefs, sexual orientation and political opinions
- Trade union membership
- Information about your health, including any medical condition, health and sickness records, and disability
- Genetic information and biometric data
- Information about criminal convictions and offences, or related security measures such as, for specific roles Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks, the Single Central Register (SCR) in schools) work absence information such as number of absences and reasons
- Data for monitoring and reporting purposes such as equalities data reporting to demonstrate compliance with The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). Reporting will be of anonymised data only

Why we collect and use this information

- To make a decision about your recruitment and confirm your suitability for employment
- To determine the terms on which you work for us
- To check you are legally entitled to work in the UK
- To pay you and, if you are an employee, deducting tax and National Insurance contributions
- To administer employees' pension benefits
- To administer the contract we have entered into with you
- To make decisions about salary reviews, compensation and continued employment
- To conduct performance reviews, manage performance, manage sickness absence and fitness to work

- To make arrangements for the termination of the employment relationship
- To enable the development of a comprehensive picture of the workforce and how it is deployed
- To inform the development of recruitment and retention policies
- To comply with health and safety obligations

The lawful basis on which we process this information

Your personal data will be processed only when there is a legal basis to do so. Processing of your personal data will only take place in one or more of the following circumstances:

- 1. To perform the contract we have entered into with you.
- 2. Where we need to comply with a legal obligation.
- 3. Where it is necessary in the public interest.
- 4. Where point 3 does not apply, where it is necessary for our legitimate interests (or those of a third party) and your interests and fundamental rights do not override those interests.
- 5. Where we need to protect your interests (or someone else's interests).
- 6. In limited circumstances, with your explicit written consent.

The legal basis for collecting special categories of data, include the following circumstances:

- 1. In limited circumstances, with your explicit written consent.
- 2. Where we need to carry out our legal obligations and in line with our data protection policy.
- 3. Where it is needed in the public interest, such as for equal opportunities monitoring or in relation to our occupational pension scheme, and in line with our data protection policy.
- 4. Where it is needed to assess your working capacity on health grounds, subject to appropriate confidentiality safeguards.

Less commonly, we may process this type of information where it is needed in relation to legal claims or where it is needed to protect your interests (or someone else's interests) and you are not capable of giving your consent, or where you have already made the information public.

Consent

If we have consent to use your personal information for any particular reason, you have the right to remove your consent at any time by contacting the Information Compliance Team.

Collecting this information

Whilst the majority of information you provide is mandatory, some of it is provided to us on a voluntary basis. In order to comply with data protection legislation, we will inform you whether you are required to provide certain information to us or if you have a choice in this.

We do not collect more information than we need to fulfil our stated purposes and will not retain it for longer than is necessary. Staff receive mandatory training in data protection.

Storing this information

We hold your personal data for a reasonable period in accordance with legal requirements after the termination of your employment with us.

Sharing this information

We share information about employees with external agencies only when necessary and where the law and our policies permit us to do so, for example for the prevention or detection of crime.

We may share your personal data with the trade unions and organisations which provide and administer employee benefits. For example, auto-enrolment under the Pensions Act 2008 to either the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for officers or the Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) for teachers.

Where a third party is to process personal data on our behalf, they do so on the basis of written instructions, are under a duty of confidentiality and are obliged to implement appropriate technical and organisational measures to ensure the security of data. However, where you may choose to elect to enter into an agreement directly with an external staff benefits provider, then that provider's own privacy notice should be referred to.

International data transfers

Employee related personal data held directly by the City Corporation is not routinely transferred to countries outside the EEA. However, certain data processed by third parties on behalf of the City Corporation may be transferred, for instance organisations based outside the EEA or operating on a global basis may need to transfer or store your data outside the EEA. We will put in place additional protections on your personal information if it leaves the UK ranging from secure way of transferring data to ensuring we have a robust contract in place with that third party. Links to each organisation's privacy notice will also be supplied where this occurs.

Your rights regarding your personal information

Under data protection legislation, you have the right to request access to information about you that we hold, also known as a Subject Access Request. You will not have to pay a fee to access your personal information (or to exercise any of the other rights listed below). However, we may charge a reasonable fee if your request for access is clearly unfounded or excessive. Alternatively, we may refuse to comply with the request in such circumstances.

You also have the right to:

- Request correction of the personal information that we hold about you. This enables you to have any incomplete or inaccurate information we hold about you corrected.
- Request erasure of your personal information. This enables you to ask us to delete
 or remove personal information where there is no good reason for us continuing to
 process it. You also have the right to ask us to delete or remove your personal
 information where you have exercised your right to object to processing (see
 below).
- Object to processing of your personal information where we are relying on a legitimate interest (or those of a third party) and there is something about your particular situation which makes you want to object to processing on this ground. You also have the right to object where we are processing your personal information for direct marketing purposes.
- Request the restriction of processing of your personal information. This enables you
 to ask us to suspend the processing of personal information about you, for example
 if you want us to establish its accuracy or the reason for processing it.
- Request the transfer of your personal information to another party.

To make a Subject Access Request or to verify, correct or request erasure of your personal information, object to the processing of your personal data, or request that we transfer a copy of your personal information to another party, please contact the Information Compliance Team at information.officer@cityoflondon.gov.uk who will refer your request to the relevant departmental AIN representatives. Refer to the Data Subject Rights' Policy for further information.

If you have a concern about the way we are collecting or using your personal data, we ask that you raise your concern with us in the first instance, these should be addressed to: Information Compliance Team, Comptroller and City Solicitor's Department, City of London, PO Box 270, Guildhall, London, EC2P 2EJ, UK; or email information.officer@cityoflondon.gov.uk.

Further information

If you would like to discuss anything in this privacy notice, please contact the City Corporation's Data Protection Officer at information.officer@cityoflondon.gov.uk.

For independent advice about data protection, privacy and data sharing issues, you can contact the Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) at:

Information Commissioner's Office Wycliffe House Water Lane Wilmslow Cheshire SK9 5AF

Tel: 0303 123 1113 (local rate) or 01625 545 745 if you prefer to use a national rate number.

Alternatively, visit ico.org.uk or email casework@ico.org.uk.